IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. $\frac{73505}{87-2081}$

MILTON GREEN,

Respondent.

JAN F HE CALLED

JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

GYPSY BAILEY CERTIFIED LEGAL INTERN

RICHARD E. DORAN BUREAU CHIEF ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 325104

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS
THE CAPITOL
TALLÄHASSEE, FL 32399-1050
(904) 488-0500
57/8
COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Defendant pled no contest to two counts of attempted sexual battery and was sentenced to four and one-half years in prison, to be followed by three years' probation (A-2). received 287 days' credit for time served Defendant remained in the custody of the sentencing. Department of Corrections (DOC) for only 518 days of the four year sentence due to gain time and was released. Later, his probation was revoked due to violation and he was sentenced to seven years in prison. At resentencing, defendant was given 805 days credit for time served (518 + 287). Defense counsel argued that defendant was entitled to credit for gain time: Because DOC viewed him as having served his four and one-half year sentence, defendant should be given credit for four and one-half years.

Defendant's notice of appeal was filed December 21, 1987, and the First District Court of Appeal filed its opinion on December 28, 1988. The State's Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction was timely filed on January 3, 1989.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The First District Court of Appeal's decision in this case is in express and direct conflict with the Fifth District Court of Appeal's decision in Butler v. State, 530 So.2d 324 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988). The First District improperly analogized defendant's revocation of probation to a defendant serving under a void judgment and sentence in reaching the conclusion that defendant, upon resentencing, was entitled to credit for time served and gain time. Fifth District, however, held that, upon revocation of community service, a defendant is entitled only to credit for time actually spent in jail or in prison, not to gain time.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE PRESENTED

THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL'S OPINION IN THIS CASE IS IN EXPRESS AND DIRECT CONFLICT WITH BUTLER V. STATE, 530 SO.2D 324 (FLA. 5TH DCA 1988).

In the case below, the First District held that defendant, upon revocation of his probation, should have received credit for time served and accrued gain time. The holding regarding gain time is in express and direct conflict with <u>Butler v. State</u>, 530 So.2d 324, 325 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988), wherein the Fifth District held a defendant "is entitled to credit only for the actual time spent <u>in jail</u> or prison" (emphasis in original).

In the present case, defendant was sentenced to four and one-half years in state prison, to be followed by three Defendant served less than one and oneyears' probation. half years (518 days) in prison due to gain time, and was released on probation. His probation was revoked later, and he was sentenced to seven years in prison, but was given credit for 518 days in custody of the Department of Corrections (DOC) and for 287 days served before sentencing. Defendant now alleges he was also entitled to four and onehalf years' credit on his resentencing because DOC viewed him as having served his full prison term of four and onehalf years.

This position was expressly rejected by the Fifth District in <u>Butler</u>. There, defendant was sentenced to four years with DOC, to be followed by two years of community control. He later violated his community control and was resentenced to five and one-half years' imprisonment with credit for time already served. On appeal, defendant contended that he was entitled to a full four years' credit on his new sentence although he may not have served that full time because of gain time credit. The Fifth District responded:

There is no merit to this contention. He is entitled to credit only for the actual time spent in jail or prison. v. Holmes, 360 So.2d 380 (Fla. 1978); Chaitman v. State, 495 So.2d 1231 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986). See also Walker v. State. So.2d (Fla. 1st DCA 1987); 78 Hutchinson v. State, 467 So.2d 788 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985). He is not entitled to credit for time spent on probation or community control, Holmes, and what he requests would produce that result. Appellant makes no contention that he was not given credit for his actual time in jail or prison, so his sentence is AFFIRMED.

530 So.2d at 325.

In the present case, the First District erroneously analogized defendant's revocation of probation defendant serving under a void judgment and sentence. Milligan v. State, 207 So.2d 24 (Fla. 2d DCA 1968). Completely different considerations involved are in resentencing after discovery of a void judgment and sentence:

It was not [defendant's] fault that the state's criminal system failed to judge him guilty and sentence him properly in an uninterrupted operation. Under the circumstances of this case it is only fair to give [defendant] full credit for all time he has been in official custody since the time of his first commitment.

<u>Tilghman v. Culver</u>, 99 So.2d 282, 285-86 (Fla. 1957), <u>cert.</u> <u>denied</u>, 356 U.S. 953 (1958). With revocation of probation, however, concerns about what the criminal justice system has done <u>to</u> a defendant are no longer at issue. Rather, a defendant's probation is revoked because of something he or she has done contrary to the criminal justice system.

The First District also erroneously held that Stearns v. State, 498 So.2d 982 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986) followed the Stearns, however, did not involve a void Milligan rule. judgment nor did it hold that gain time must be awarded in a valid judgment context. Instead, the Stearns court found that "the trial court was laboring under the misconception that appellant could not receive credit for time served or accrued gain time because he had committed probation violation." Id. at 983. Thus, both Stearns and Milligan were completely inapposite precedent upon which the First District based its holding in the present case..

The First District also devoted much time to a totally tangential issue -- forfeiture of statutory gain time. This is not at issue, as no gain time was forfeited. Defendant accrued gain time for which he was released early. The

circuit court declared no forfeiture, but merely refused to credit defendant at resentencing with previously accrued and used gain time.

Finally, the First District cited Franklin v. State, 526 So.2d 159 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988) and Poore v. State, 13 F.L.W. 571 (Fla. 1988) as supporting its holding regarding Again, the First District has misinterpreted gain time. these cases. Both Poore and Franklin support the state's contentions that, upon resentencing, courts must give full credit for prior incarceration. Incarceration refers only to time actually spent in prison, not to time awarded as an incentive for good behavior. See Richards v. State, 521 So.2d 292 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988); Walker v. State, 506 So.2d 78 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987); Sapp v. State, 445 So.2d 1088 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984); State v. Holmes, 360 So.2d 380 (Fla. 1978); State v. Jones, 327 So.2d 18 (Fla. 1976); Hollingshead v. State, 292 So.2d 617 (Fla. 1st DCA 1974).

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, the state respectfully requests this Court to invoke its discretionary jurisdiction in this case.