IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,	:
Petitioner,	:
v.	:
MILTON GREEN,	:
Respondent.	:
	:

5 ×

¥ 5

٠,

1

1



MICHAEL E. ALLEN PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

SID J. WHITE

CLERK, SUPREN

Sil Y .....

JAN 10 1989

- Deput Clerk

1.1.1

C

CASE NO. 73,505

KATHLEEN STOVER ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0513253 POST OFFICE BOX 671 TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32302 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

#

#### ISSUE PRESENTED

ŧ۰

· - ·

•

Ξ.

2

THE DECISION OF THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL BELOW WAS CORRECT, AND THIS COURT SHOULD DECLINE REVIEW.

The state alleges the decision of the First District Court below, <u>Green v. State</u>, <u>So.2d</u>, 14 FLW 74 (Fla. 1st DCA Dec. 28, 1988), conflicts with the holding of the Fifth District in <u>Butler v. State</u>, 530 So.2d 324 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988). This court has already denied review in <u>Butler</u> (no. 73,177, review denied Dec. 13, 1988).

The precise issue in the instant case is whether a defendant is entitled to credit for gain-time earned during his first term of imprisonment, when he is resentenced to prison a second time on the same offense because he violated probation. The granting of credit for the time a prisoner is physically incarcerated is not disputed. <u>State v. Holmes</u>, 360 So.2d 380 (Fla. 1978); <u>Walker v. State</u>, 506 So.2d 78 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987). Nor, apparently, is there any dispute that, where a prisoner is resentenced after his original conviction and sentence were reversed (and thus made void), he is entitled to credit for all time served and for all gain-time earned. <u>See North Carolina</u> <u>v. Pearce</u>, 395 U.S. 711, 719 n.13, 89 S.Ct. 2072, 23 L.Ed.2d 656 (1969), in which the Supreme Court said:

Such credit must, of course, include the time credited during service of the first prison sentence for good behavior, etc.

<u>Green</u> and <u>Butler</u> are the only two Florida cases which have directly addressed the issue of credit for gain-time, and they

-3-

reached different results. There are two main lines of attack on the issue of granting credit for gain-time.

•

•

<u>.</u>

The first, employed by the Fifth District in <u>Butler</u>, is to characterize any time the defendant was not physically incarcerated as time spent on probation, then cite <u>State v. Holmes</u>, <u>supra, et al.</u>, for the principle that prisoners are not entitled to credit for time served on probation. By employing the simple device of this characterization, or mischaracterization, the Fifth District succeeded in avoiding the issue completely. None of the cases cited in <u>Butler</u> addressed the issue of credit for gain-time and, thus, are inapposite here.

The second angle of attack, employed by the state in the instant case, is to distinguish Green's situation from <u>North</u> <u>Carolina v. Pearce</u>, <u>supra</u>, and <u>Stearns v. State</u>, 498 So.2d 982 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986), because <u>Pearce</u> involved credit for a sentence which was later voided and <u>Stearns</u> involved credit for a prison term based on a revocation of probation which was later reversed. Respondent agrees it is even more outrageous to deny full credit on a void sentence, but he, and every prisoner, has earned his gain-time no less than a defendant whose sentence was subsequently voided, and all of them are entitled to credit for gain-time.

By law, gain-time is entirely a creature of the Department of Corrections, the purpose of which is to:

> ... encourage satisfactory prisoner behavior, to provide incentives for prisoners to participate in productive activities, and to reward prisoners who perform outstanding deeds or services.

> > -4-

Sec. 944.275(1), Fla. Stat. No trial court has the authority to grant or withhold gain-time. <u>See</u> sec. 944.28, Fla. Stat. (forfeiture of gain-time).

ч.

÷.,

•

Gain-time is dependent solely on an inmate's behavior <u>in</u> prison; it has nothing to do with how he got to prison, so the void sentence distinction is irrelevant and meaningless. The granting of gain-time is not dependent upon the successful completion of a subsequent term of probation. To the contrary, the purpose of and procedure for granting gain-time indicates that gain-time decisions fulfill their purpose, and the right to gain-time vests (as it were) during the current term of incarceration.

The state argued respondent has not forfeited any gaintime, apparently because he was released early from his first prison term, but did absolutely nothing to explain this theory. For when he was returned to prison to serve a longer sentence without the benefit of credit for the gain-time he previously earned, respondent de facto forfeited that gain-time previously earned on the same conviction, but for which he received no credit.

Respondent is entitled to credit for gain-time earned during his previous term of incarceration, and the decision of the First District Court was correct.

-5-

#### V CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing argument, reasoning, and citation of authority, petitioner urges this Court to decline review on the merits, or in the alternative, to approve or affirm the decision below.

Respectfully submitted,

MICHAEL E. ALLEN PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND, JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

KATHLEEN STOVER Fla. Bar No. 0513253 Assistant Public Defender Post Office Box 671 Tallahassee, Florida 32302 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT